## —【Guideline】 ----- ガイドライン --

# Evidence-based Guidelines for the Use of Albumin Products Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy

Satoshi Yasumura<sup>1)</sup>, Shigeyoshi Makino<sup>2)</sup>, Masanori Matsumoto<sup>3)</sup>, Takehiro Kono<sup>4)</sup>, Shuichi Kino<sup>5)</sup>, Asashi Tanaka<sup>6)</sup>, Akemi Wakisaka<sup>7)</sup>, Yuji Yonemura<sup>8)</sup> and Tadashi Matsushita<sup>9)</sup>

**Keywords:** Albumin Products, Hypoalbuminemia, Hemorrhagic shock, Severe sepsis, Therapeutic plasma exchange

#### Table of Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Types of Albumin Products and Assessment of Administration
- 3. Hypoalbuminemia and Indications of Albumin
- 4. Effects of Different Assays on Serum Albumin Levels
- 5. Benefits and Recommendations for Albumin Use by Pathological Condition
  - (i) Hemorrhagic shock
  - (ii) Severe sepsis
  - (iii) Ascites secondary to liver cirrhosis
  - (iv) Nephritic syndrome with refractory edema or pulmonary edema
  - (v) Extracorporeal circulation with unstable hemodynamics
  - (vi) Therapeutic plasma exchange not requiring the replacement of coagulation factors
  - (vii) Severe burns
  - (viii) Pulmonary edema or marked edema due to hypoproteinemia
  - (ix) Markedly decreased circulating plasma volume
  - (x) Cerebral ischemia (head injury)
  - (xi) Heart surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass
  - (xii) Hypoalbuminemia with stable hemodynamics during the perioperative period
  - (xiii) Pregnancy-induced hypertension
  - (xiv) Inflammatory bowel disease
  - (xv) Nutritional support as a source of protein
  - (xvi) Terminally ill patients
  - (xvii) Pathological conditions that are not eligible for other plasma expanders
- 1) Department of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy, Toyama University Hospital
- 2) Department of Transfusion Medicine, Toranomon Hospital
- 3) Department of Blood Transfusion Medicine, Nara Medical University
- 4) Division of Transfusion Medicine, Osaka Medical College Hospital
- 5) Japanese Red Cross Society Hokkaido Block Blood Center
- 6) Department of Transfusion Medicine, Tokyo Medical University Hachioji Medical Center
- 7) Japan Blood Products Organization
- 8) Department of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy, Kumamoto University Hospital
- 9) Department of Transfusion Medicine, Nagoya University Hospital

(Received: 2017/07/04, Accepted: 2017/08/25)

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1) Purpose of the Development of the Guidelines

Albumin was introduced into clinical use in 1941 and has been widely used worldwide for about 70 years because of its efficacy and safety in patients with hypovolemic shock or those with marked edema. "Guidelines for use of blood products" were developed in 1999 by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare and have been amended and revised, but have not provided any evidence-based recommendation levels. Meanwhile, in recent years, studies on albumin and its use in critically ill patients have been increasingly published and provided important insights into clinical use of albumin for the treatment of different pathological conditions. The purpose of these guidelines is to provide healthcare professionals with support in making an appropriate decision on the use of albumin to promote the appropriate use of albumin and to ensure better treatment. Although these guidelines are evidence-based, they merely provide evidence of results of clinical studies and do not guarantee the universal use of albumin. In clinical practice, albumin should be used based on an overall judgment by healthcare professionals and these guidelines do not restrict the use of albumin. In addition, healthcare professions or these guidelines are not legally held, regardless of whether or not the use of albumin included in these clinical practice guidelines is followed.

#### 2) Background of the Development of the Guidelines

This project was initiated as the Literature Search Project for the Development of Guidelines for the Appropriate Use of Albumin Products, a research project funded by the Health and Labour Sciences Research Grants, in March 2012 and has been, since 2013, taken over to the Taskforce for the Development of Guidelines for Administration of Albumin Products, a subcommittee of the Guidelines Committee of the Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy, and Research on the Development of Evidence-based Guidelines for Blood Transfusion, a research project funded by the Health and Labour Scientific Research Grants. Members of the Taskforce for the Development of Guidelines for Administration of Albumin Products were elected in meetings of the board of directors in May 2013 in consideration of their specialty.

Guidelines committee members

Research project funded by the Health and Labour Sciences Research Grants

"Literature Search Project for the Development of Guidelines for the Appropriate Use of Albumin Products" Principal Investigator: Shigeyoshi Makino, Toranomon Hospital

• Research project funded by the Health and Labour Sciences Research Grants

"Research on the Development of Evidence-based Guidelines for Blood Transfusion etc."

Principal Investigator: Tadashi Matsushita, Nagoya University

•Guidelines Committee, Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy

Taskforce for the Development of Guidelines for Administration of Albumin Products Executive Director: Yuji Yonemura, Kumamoto University

Chairperson: Satoshi Yasumura, University of Toyama

Member: Shuichi Kino, (formerly) Asahikawa Medical University (May 2013 to March 2014) (currently) Japanese Red Cross Society Hokkaido Block Blood Center (April 2014 to now)

Member: Takehiro Kono, Osaka Medical College

Member: Asashi Tanaka, Tokyo Medical University Hachioji Medical Center

Member: Shigeyoshi Makino, Toranomon Hospital

Member: Masanori Matsumoto, Nara Medical University

Member: Akemi Wakisaka, (formerly) Chitose Plant, Japan Blood Products Organization (May 2013 to July 2014) (currently) Central Research Laboratory, Japan Blood Products Organization (August 2014 to now)

## 3) Method of the Development of the Guidelines

Clinical questions (CQs) were formulated regarding a total of 17 pathological conditions, including indications and inappropriate uses specified in Chapter 5 "Appropriate use of albumin products," "Guidelines for Administration of Blood Products," and a search was conducted based on a total of 3,059 domestic and overseas papers on albumin published in 1972 to 2014, of which 310 papers were included in the primary selection, as shown in the

table below. Other important published papers or papers necessary for formulating statements were added as hand-searched papers and levels of evidence and grades of recommendation were determined for each CQ according to the *Minds Handbook for Clinical Practice Guideline Development 2014*. For these guidelines, a guidelines committee member was assigned to each CQ and the chairperson was responsible for overall supervision.

Status of the collection of published papers

Source	Year of Starting Search	Hit Counts of Papers on Search	Number of Papers Included in the Primary Selection
MEDLINE	1972	1,979	245
Cochrane	1992	881	26
JAMAS	1983	199	39

Important papers that were searched for each CQ were included. Draft guidelines were reviewed and modified by the Taskforce. Subsequently, public comments were invited on the society's web site and any necessary modifications were made for the finalization of the guidelines.

Evidence levels and grades of recommendation were determined according to the *Minds Handbook for Clinical Practice Guideline Development 2014*<sup>1)</sup>. The strength of recommendations was presented in two ways: "1": strongly recommended and "2": weakly recommended (suggested). The overall strength of evidence across outcomes (A, B, C, D) was put down with the above strength of recommendations.

A (strong): strongly confident of the estimate of effect

B (moderate): moderately confident of the estimate of effect

C (weak): limited confidence of the estimate of effect

D (very weak): very little confident of the estimate of effect

#### 4) Publication and Revision

These guidelines are publicly available on the *Journal of the Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy* and the society's website. They will be revised with accumulating evidence.

## 5) Funding and Conflict of Interest

The development of these guidelines was funded by the Health and Labour Sciences Research Grants Literature Search Project for the Development of Guidelines for the Appropriate Use of Albumin Products and Research on the Development of Evidence-based Guidelines for Blood Transfusion. The content of these guidelines have no interest in specific profit and nonprofit organizations, drug manufacturers, medical device manufacturers, etc., the guidelines committee members declared the status of conflict of interest to the Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy, and the COI committee confirmed there was no conflict of interest.

## 2. Types of Albumin Products and Assessment of Administration

Albumin products are available in an isotonic 5% solution and a hypertonic 20% to 25% solution. A heat-treated human plasma protein fraction (PPF), which has an albumin concentration of ≥4.4% and in which albumin accounts for ≥80% of the total protein, is also osmotically equivalent to normal plasma. Isotonic albumin products are used for the replacement of circulating plasma volume in hemorrhagic shock, severe burns, etc., while heat-treated human PPF is, in principle, contraindicated in patients undergoing therapeutic plasma exchange not requiring the replacement of coagulation factors or those undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass because it can cause decreased blood pressure in rare cases. In addition, it is administered at a rate of ≤5 to 8 ml/minute.

In contrast, hypertonic albumin products, which have a colloid osmotic pressure 4 to 5 times higher than that of plasma, are suitable for the treatment of ascites or pulmonary edema secondary to hypoproteinemia.

Both each 250 ml of a 5% product and each 50 ml of a 25% product contain 12.5 g of albumin, which is equivalent to the amount of albumin produced daily in adults.

Because albumin administered intravenously is evenly dispersed in the vascular compartment within 10 to 15 minutes and evenly distributed in the extravascular pool within 4 to 7 days, the transfer of albumin to the extravascular compartment accounted for 60% of the intravenous dose. When 50 ml (12.5 g) of a 25% product is administered to an adult male weighing 65 kg, the expected increase in albumin level (g/dl) can be calculated using the

following equations, on the assumption that the intravascular recovery of albumin is 40%:

Expected increase in albumin level (g/dl)

- = {dose of albumin administered (g)/circulating plasma volume (dl)} × 0.4 (intravascular recovery of albumin administered of 40%)
- = {dose of albumin administered (g)/body weight (kg)  $\times$  0.4 d*l*}  $\times$  0.4 (circulating plasma volume = body weight (kg)  $\times$  0.4 d*l*)
- = {dose of albumin administered (g)/body weight (kg)}
- $= \{12.5 \text{ (g)}/65 \text{ (kg)}\} = 0.2 \text{ (g/d})$

However, because extravasation of albumin is increased in many pathological conditions, such as major surgery, trauma, burns, sepsis, and shock, resulting in a further increase in the extravascular pool, the expected value is not often obtained. The response to administration is assessed and based on measurements of albumin levels and symptomatic improvement. There are reports demonstrating that albumin is effective as measured by the assessment of organ functions using sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) scores or oxygenation in patients with acute lung injury<sup>2/3)</sup>.

#### 3. Hypoalbuminemia and Indications of Albumin

Causes of hypoalbuminemia include hemorrhage, increased capillary permeability, loss due to excessive renal excretion etc., increased metabolism, decreased hepatic synthesis, and dilution with intraoperative fluid therapy. In nephritic syndrome or protein-losing gastrointestinal disorders, loss of albumin can lead to hypoproteinemia. In highly invasive surgery, sepsis, trauma, hepatic disease, and malignancy, decreased synthesis and leakage of albumin can trigger hypoalbuminemia. Although serum albumin levels are a measure of nutritional status or prognosis, improvement of pathological conditions with the treatment of underlying diseases is given first priority because hypoalbuminemia itself is not adverse. Albumin products are used for temporary improvement of pathological conditions due to acute hypoproteinemia or pathological conditions due to chronic hypoproteinemia that are difficult to manage with other treatment approaches.

Although there are many clinical studies in which albumin was administered in the acute phase with a target serum albumin level of 2.5 to 3.0 g/dl, no superiority of albumin has not been demonstrated<sup>4)~6)</sup>. It at least appears that serum albumin levels of  $\geq$ 2.5 g/dl do not have to be maintained. In addition, although some guidelines set the target albumin level at 2.0 to 2.5 g/dl for hypoalbuminemia in various pathological conditions<sup>7)</sup>, there are no thresholds that has reached scientific consensus.

Therefore, there are no clear thresholds for albumin administration and the use of albumin products is not indicated for hypoalbuminemia alone. A decision to use albumin products should be made after consideration of disease and patient conditions.

## 4. Effects of Different Assays on Serum Albumin Levels

In discussion differences among assays, the following three aspects have to be considered: i) the magnitude of differences in observed values among assays, ii) the accuracy of observed values with each assay, and iii) which assay controlled trials with a high evidence level use. For the i) above, the BCG (bromocresol green) method has limited accuracy because of cross-reaction with globulin and provides higher values than the modified BCP (bromocresol purple) method. The proposal of the Japanese Society of Laboratory Medicine states that "It is extremely difficult to specify conversion formulas for both methods by pathological condition and, if an albumin value of  $\leq 3.5 \text{ g/dl}$  is obtained with the modified BCP method, the obtained value plus 0.3 g/dl should be approximated as the estimate with the BCG method." For the ii) above, according to the report on the results of quality control by the Japan Medical Association and Japanese Association of Medical Technologists, the coefficient of variation of values obtained using reagents that were adopted by multiple facilities was generally less than 2%, suggesting that the accuracy was within the acceptable range. In contrast, in overseas countries, it has been noted that the degree of inaccuracy of measured albumin levels was unacceptable and has to be improved. For the iii) above, the reports of large controlled trials after 2000 (e.g., SAFE study, ALBIOS study). do not include

the method of measurement and therefore the methods of measurement used are unknown. Based on the above, it has to be considered difficult to develop the guidelines of albumin use by assay at this time. Instead, considering that there are no clear threshold levels for pathological conditions that are eligible for albumin products, the necessity of albumin products should be considered, bearing in mind that values obtained the BCG method have limited accuracy.

#### 5. Benefits and Recommendations for Albumin Use by Pathological Condition

#### i) Hemorrhagic shock

#### Statement

CQ1. Do patients with hemorrhagic shock benefit from albumin?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
1. In patients with decreased intravascular volume secondary to trauma, surgery, etc. in whom fluid therapy is considered to be required to maintain or expand the intravascular volume, the use of albumin is not associated with improvement in survival compared with the use of crystalloids.	1	A	None*	4, 11-14
2. When albumin is used for the replacement for hypovolemia secondary to trauma, surgery, etc., it can potentially improve morbidity.	2	С	None*	15

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

For the treatment of hypovolemia induced by hemorrhage, crystalloids, such as normal saline and lactated Linger's solution, and colloids capable of maintaining plasma oncotic pressure, such as human albumin solution, dextran solution, and hydroxyethyl starch (HES) solution, are used.

In 1998, the Cochrane Injury Group Albumin Reviewers conducted a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials comparing albumin versus other fluid therapies in critically ill patients with hypovolemia due to hemorrhage from trauma or surgery<sup>11)</sup>. They found that albumin administration was associated with a trend for higher mortality (relative risk, 1.46; 95% confidence interval, 0.97 to 2.22). When patients with burn and those with hypoalbuminemia, who were also analyzed, were included, it was found that albumin administration was associated with higher mortality (relative risk, 1.68; 95% confidence interval, 1.07 to 2.67).

In 2001, another meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials comparing albumin administration versus other fluid therapies was conducted<sup>12)</sup>. The relative risk for mortality in the group treated with albumin for trauma or surgery was 2.13 (95% confidence interval, 0.81 to 5.64). When all the indications, such as burns, hypoalbuminemia, high-risk neonate, and ascites, were pooled, the relative risk for mortality with albumin administration was 1.11 (95% confidence interval, 0.95 to 1.28), which failed to demonstrate evidence that albumin administration increased mortality.

In 2004, results were reported from a prospective, randomized, controlled trial in which 6,997 ICU patients requiring intravascular blood volume replacement received 4% albumin solution or normal saline (SAFE Study). The primary endpoint of this study is mortality at 28 days and the secondary endpoints include the number of days of ICU stay, the number of days of hospital stay, the number of days of mechanical ventilation, and the number of days of renal-replacement therapy. For mortality at 28 days, the relative risk in the albumin group was 0.99 (95% confidence interval, 0.91 to 1.09), thus providing no evidence that 4% albumin solution is superior to normal saline in ICU patients requiring intravascular blood volume replacement (i.e., normal saline and 4% albumin solution are equivalent when mortality is used as an endpoint). In addition, there were no differences between the normal saline and 4% albumin groups in the number of days of ICU stay, number of days of hospital stay, number of days of mechanical ventilation, or number of days of renal-replacement therapy. A subsequent analysis of data from the SAFE study investigated mortality in patients with 4% albumin solution or normal saline, stratified by baseline albumin level ( $\leq$ 2.5 g/dl or  $\geq$ 2.5 g/dl) and found no differences in mortality at 28 days regardless of baseline albumin level (odds ratio, 0.87; 95% confidence interval, 0.73 to 1.05 for patients with a baseline albumin level

 $\leq$ 2.5 g/dl; odds ratio, 1.09; 95% confidence interval, 0.92 to 1.28 for patients with a baseline albumin level >2.5 g/dl)<sup>13</sup>.

The most recent meta-analysis including the SAFE study concluded that for critically ill patients with hypovolemia, there was no evidence that albumin reduced mortality when compared with cheaper fluids (odds ratio, 1.02; 95% confidence interval, 0.92 to 1.13)<sup>14)</sup>. For critically ill patients with burns or hypoalbuminemia, there was a suggestion that albumin administration may increase mortality.

When critically ill patients with hypovolemia due to hemorrhage from trauma or surgery received albumin or other fluid therapies, morbidity was lower in the albumin group (relative risk, 0.58; 95% confidence interval, 0.40 to 0.85)<sup>15)</sup>.

#### Recommendation

- 1. In patients with decreased intravascular volume secondary to trauma, surgery, etc. in whom fluid therapy is considered to be required to maintain or expand the intravascular volume, the use of albumin is not associated with improvement in mortality compared with the use of crystalloids (strong recommendation against use, 1A).
- 2. When albumin is used for the replacement for hypovolemia secondary to trauma, surgery, etc., it can potentially improve morbidity (2C).

## ii) Severe sepsis

#### Statement

CQ2. Do patients with severe sepsis benefit from albumin?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
1. In patients with severe sepsis or septic shock, the use of albumin is not associated with improvement in mortality compared with the use of crystalloids.		В	None*	4, 5, 16-18
2. In the initial treatment in patients with severe sepsis, albumin administration stabilizes hemodynamics.	2	С	None*	4, 5, 16-18

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

In the International Guidelines for Management of Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock published in 2012, the following recommendations regarding fluid therapy in patients with severe sepsis are included<sup>16)</sup>: 1) We recommend crystalloids be used as the initial fluid of choice for the resuscitation in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock (Grade of Recommendation 1, Evidence Level B); 2) We recommend against the use of hydroxyethyl starches (HES) for fluid resuscitation of severe sepsis and septic shock (Grade of Recommendation 1, Evidence Level B); and 3) We suggest the use of albumin in the fluid resuscitation of severe sepsis and septic shock when patients require substantial amounts of crystalloids (Grade of Recommendation 2, Evidence Level C).

In a subgroup analysis of patients with sepsis in the SAFE study, mortality at 28 days tended to be lower among patients treated with 4% albumin than among patients treated with normal saline (relative risk, 0.87; 95% confidence interval, 0.74 to 1.02; p=0.09)<sup>4</sup>. Organ functions etc. were further characterized in this subgroup<sup>17</sup>. Compared with the normal saline group, the albumin group had a significantly lower heart rate up to 3 days of treatment and a significantly higher central venous pressure, but there were no significant differences between the groups in the duration of renal-replacement therapy or sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) score. However, when baseline characteristics were also included, mortality at 28 days was significantly lower in the albumin group than in the normal saline group, suggesting that albumin administration might reduce the risk of death in patients with sepsis.

In 2014, results were reported from a randomized, controlled trial, involving 1,818 patients, which investigated the benefit of albumin in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock<sup>5)</sup>. During the first 7 days, the albumin group had a higher mean blood pressure and lower net fluid balance. However, mortalities at 28 and 90 days did not differ between the groups, indicating that albumin did not improve the rate of survival in patients with severe sepsis. Based on a network meta-analysis, which can evaluate the effect of 3 or more treatment interventions simultaneously, albumin has been considered to contribute to survival to an equal or greater extent than crystalloids<sup>18)</sup>.

- 1. In patients with severe sepsis or septic shock, the use of albumin is not associated with improvement in mortality compared with the use of crystalloids (strong recommendation against use, 1B).
  - 2. In the initial treatment in patients with severe sepsis, albumin administration stabilizes hemodynamics (2C).

#### iii) Ascites secondary to liver cirrhosis

#### Statement

Statement				
CQ3. Is the use of albumin effective in ascites secondary to liver cirrhosis?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
1. In patients with ascites secondary to liver cirrhosis who are on diuretics, albumin increases the rate of disappearance of ascites, prevents the recurrence of ascites, and improves the rate of survival.	1	В	None*	19, 20
2. Albumin is superior to other plasma expanders in preventing circulatory failure and reducing mortality after large volume paracentesis.	1	A	None*	21-24
3. In patients with spontaneous bacterial peritonitis, albumin improves systemic hemodynamics and prevents the development of hepatorenal syndrome.	1	A	None*	25-28
4. Albumin in combination with inotropic agents is an effective treatment regimen for hepatorenal syndrome. Improvement in renal function is observed in 65% of patients with type 1 hepatorenal syndrome. Albumin administered for the treatment of hepatorenal syndrome before liver transplantation is associated with improved prognosis.	1	A	None*	29-31

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

In patients with liver cirrhosis, the half-life of albumin is prolonged and its catabolism rate is also reduced, but excessive administration of albumin induces isoleucine deficiency and causes impaired protein synthesis or increased albumin degradation. In addition, from a standpoint of appropriate use, it has been believed that chronic administration of albumin should be avoided in patients with chronic liver disease. However, the use of high doses of albumin that are well above the level covered by insurance in Japan is recommended in Western countries, depending on the condition of decompensated cirrhosis.

#### 1. Position of albumin for the treatment of ascites

Cases of marked edema, ascites, or pleural effusion in decompensated cirrhosis are first managed with sodium and fluid restriction plus aldosterone antagonists and loop diuretics, but cases of treatment-resistant, so-called refractory, ascites are treated for a short time with hypertonic albumin products. In particular, marked hypoalbuminemia (albumin level  $\leq 2.5$  g/dl) commonly does not respond to an increase in the dose of diuretics and thus is usually treated in combination with hypertonic albumin products that have a low sodium content. Albumin, which is beneficial in maintaining plasma osmotic pressure and enhancing the effect of diuretics, increases the rate of disappearance of ascites, prevents the recurrence of ascites<sup>19</sup>, and improves the rate of survival in patients with ascites secondary to liver cirrhosis when administered on an outpatient basis for a long time<sup>20</sup>. Cases of refractory ascites that failed to respond to drugs are eligible for cell-free and concentrated ascites reinfusion therapy, peritoneo-venous shunt, or transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt.

#### 2. Use of albumin during paracentesis

Refractory ascites with breathing difficulty or marked abdominal distension is eligible for paracentesis. Large volume ( $\ge 4 l$ ) paracentesis causes adverse effects secondary to decreased circulating plasma volume, such as renal impairment and hyponatremia, in approximately 30% of cases. Paracentesis-induced circulatory dysfunction (PICD) is accompanied by marked renal impairment and is associated with death. Albumin has been shown to help prevent these adverse effects. A comparison of the group administered albumin at a dose of 40 g per 4 to 6 l of ascitic fluid removed and the group undergoing paracentesis alone found that patients experiencing hyponatremia or renal impairment after the first paracentesis had a poor prognosis, indicating that albumin administration was

important to prevent renal impairment or electrolyte abnormality following large volume paracentesis<sup>21)</sup>. Albumin has been compared with other colloid solutions for the reason of its expensive nature and PICD occurred significantly less frequently in patients treated with albumin (18.5%) than in those receiving dextran 70 (34.4%) or polygeline  $(37.8\%)^{22)}$ . Although there was no difference in the incidence of PICD between patients receiving normal saline and albumin when 4 to 5 *l* of ascetic fluid with each paracentesis is removed<sup>23)</sup>, albumin at a dose of 8 to 10 g per *l* of ascetic fluid is effective if larger volume is removed<sup>24)</sup>.

## 3. Use of albumin in spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP)

Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis secondary to decompensated cirrhosis is also a condition with a poor prognosis. It is predominantly caused by aerobic Gram-negative bacteria, such as E. coli and Klebsiella, and treated with 3rd-generation cephem antibiotics or penicillin. However, a clinical study comparing the treatment with cefotaxime alone and in combination with albumin showed that coadministration with albumin reduced the development of hepatorenal syndrome (33% for cefotaxime alone vs. 10% for cefotaxime plus albumin, p=0.002) and mortality (29% for cefotaxime alone vs. 10% for cefotaxime plus albumin, p=0.01) $^{25}$ ). In this study, albumin was given at a dose of 1.5 g per kilogram of body weight within 6 hours after diagnosis, followed by 1 g per kilogram of body weight on day 3 of illness. Albumin is beneficial, especially for patients with impaired renal function $^{26(27)}$ , and its benefits observed by a meta-analysis were appreciated $^{28}$ ).

#### 4. Use of albumin in hepatorenal syndrome (HRS)

Hepatorenal syndrome is referred to as acute renal failure in patients with end-stage liver cirrhosis or hepatic insufficiency, such as fulminant hepatitis, but represents functional pre-renal failure without any organic or pathological changes in renal tissues. Hepatorenal syndrome is classified into 2 types: type 1 showing rapidly progressive symptoms of renal failure and type 2 showing slowly progressive renal failure. Patients with hepatorenal syndrome has a low glomerular filtration rate (serum Cr > 1.5 mg/dl or 24-hour CCr < 40 ml/min), resulting in oliguria. In many cases, hepatorenal syndrome progresses in an irreversible manner, is associated with a mortality rate of  $\geq 90\%$ , and is one of the causes of death in end-stage liver cirrhosis. The use of terlipressin and albumin is recommended for the treatment of type-1 hepatorenal syndrome<sup>29/30)</sup>. Improvement of renal impairment is also noted in 83% of patients with coadministration of norepinephrine and albumin, which represents a beneficial treatment regimen while waiting for a liver transplant<sup>31)</sup>.

## Recommendation

- 1. In patients with ascites secondary to liver cirrhosis who are on diuretics, albumin increases the rate of disappearance of ascites, prevents the recurrence of ascites, and improves the rate of survival after a long-term administration (1B).
- 2. When  $\leq 4$  to 5 l of ascetic fluid with each paracentesis is removed, albumin is not necessary because paracentesis-induced circulatory dysfunction can be managed with electrolyte replacement. When a larger volume of ascitic fluid is removed, a hypertonic albumin solution at a dose of 8 to 10 g per l of ascetic fluid is effective (1A).
- 3. Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis with renal impairment benefits from the treatment with a hypertonic albumin solution at a 1.5 g/kg body weight within 6 hours after diagnosis, following by 1 g/kg body weight on day 3 of illness (1A).
- 4. Treatment with a hypertonic albumin solution and a vasoconstrictor is effective in improving type-1 hepatorenal syndrome. Albumin should be administered at a dose of 1 g/kg body weight on day 1 and 20 to 40 g/body weight on subsequent days, in combination with terlipressin and other drugs (1A).

#### iv) Nephritic syndrome with refractory edema or pulmonary edema

#### Statement

CQ4. Is albumin therapy effective in nephritic syndrome with refractory edema or pulmonary edema?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
Although albumin is used as an act of necessity in combination with a diuretic, its efficacy is transient.	2	D	D	32-35

#### Commentaries

Use of albumin in nephritic syndrome

Because albumin is rapidly excreted in urine after dosing in patients with nephritic syndrome, its efficacy in improving refractory edema is minimal and transient<sup>32)33)</sup>. Instead, albumin has reported to worsen renal impairment<sup>34)</sup> and is thus not used for improving edema<sup>35)</sup>. In patients with nephritic syndrome who have decreased blood pressure due to decreased colloid osmotic pressure or massive pleural effusion or ascites resulting in breathing difficulty and who have been difficult to treat with other approaches, albumin is used as an act of necessity in combination with a diuretic, but its efficacy is transient, with limited reports indicating its benefits.

#### Recommendation

In nephritic syndrome with refractory edema or pulmonary edema, hypertonic albumin is expected to show only transient efficacy and is not recommended with the exception of use as an act of necessity (2D).

#### v) Extracorporeal circulation with unstable hemodynamics

#### Statement

CQ5. Is the use of albumin effective during extracorporeal circulation, such as hemodialysis, in cases with unstable hemodynamics (e.g., in patients with diabetes)?	Evidence Level		Reference
	Overseas	Japan	
Although albumin is effective, normal saline is the first choice. Dose adjustment of antihypertensive drugs, use of vasopressors, or continuous dialysis is available as an alternative.	С	None*	36-38

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

Use of albumin during extracorporeal circulation, such as hemodialysis, in cases with unstable hemodynamics (e.g., in patients with diabetes)

Dialysis-induced hypotension is a common complication of dialysis that is due to decreased blood volume. It presents with symptoms, such as nausea, sweating, convulsion, and dizziness; is characterized by an abrupt drop in blood pressure; and has been treated with the administration of normal saline, albumin, isotonic colloids, etc<sup>36</sup>. Knoll et al. conducted a double-blind, randomized, cross-over trial designed to evaluate the superiority of albumin to normal saline in 45 patients with a history of dialysis-induced hypotension and found no evidence of efficacy of albumin with the exception that the albumin group was administered a smaller volume of normal saline<sup>37</sup>.

There are no other trials comparing the efficacy of albumin with other fluid therapies<sup>38)</sup> and therefore normal saline is the first choice for hypotension during dialysis. In addition, dose adjustment of antihypertensive drugs, use of vasopressors, or continuous dialysis is available as an alternative to albumin in dialysis patients with unstable hemodynamics, including hypotension.

## Recommendation

In principle, the use of isotonic albumin is not recommended during extracorporeal circulation, such as hemodialysis, in cases with unstable hemodynamics (e.g., in patients with diabetes) (weak recommendation against use, 2C).

#### vi) Therapeutic plasma exchange not requiring the replacement of coagulation factors

## Statement

CQ6. Is the use of albumin effective during therapeutic plasma exchange not requiring the replacement of coagulation factors (e.g., in autoimmune neurological disorders)?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
1. Therapeutic plasma exchange using albumin as a replacement fluid is an effective treatment for neurological disorders.	1	A	None*	39-45
2. Therapeutic plasma exchange is beneficial in removing anti-A or anti-B antibodies for ABO-incompatible transplantation when used in combination with immunosuppressant agents.	1	В	None*	46
3. In other diseases, therapeutic plasma exchange is less effective than causal therapy and shows only transient benefits.	2	С	None*	47, 48

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

Therapeutic plasma exchange not requiring the replacement of coagulation factors

Plasma exchange (PE) is a therapeutic procedure in which a plasma fractionator is used to separate the patient's blood into plasma and blood cellular components and replace the plasma containing pathogenic substances with a replacement fluid in order to remove the pathogenic substances and has been shown to be beneficial in many diseases<sup>39)</sup>. In therapeutic PE not requiring replacement of plasma components, a diluted albumin replacement fluid is recommended rather than fresh frozen plasma (FFP) from a viewpoint of the prevention of infections and simple plasma exchange and double-filtration plasmapheresis (DFPP) have been performed<sup>40)</sup>. Heat-treated human plasma protein fraction is, in principle, not used because it may cause anaphylactic reactions to contaminating proteins, such as hypotension.

A high evidence level is available regarding the efficacy of therapeutic PE in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP), Guillain-Barre syndrome (GBS), and acute myasthenia gravis<sup>41)</sup>. Although PE, steroid therapy, or high-dose gamma-globulin therapy is available for the treatment of CIDP, there are no differences in effect among these treatments and treatment is selected depending on pathological conditions<sup>42)</sup>. A meta-analysis of RCTs has shown that PE provides short-term symptomatic improvement in approximately 70% of patients with CDIP<sup>43)</sup>. PE is also effective in GBS<sup>44)</sup> and a trial comparing plasma with albumin as a replacement fluid has indicated that there are no differences in treatment effect between them and that albumin replacement has a lower frequency of complications<sup>45)</sup>.

PE and DFPP are performed for removing anti-A or anti-B antibodies in ABO-incompatible transplantation and have been shown to be beneficial when used in combination with immunosuppresants<sup>46</sup>.

Therapeutic PE is effective in acute exacerbation of steroid-refractory multiple sclerosis<sup>47)</sup>. In addition, PE was used for immunoglobulin removal in multiple myeloma or macroglobulinemia and produced improvements in renal function and survival rate<sup>48)</sup>. However, PE has shown only transient efficacy in these diseases.

#### Recommendation

- 1. PE using an isotonic or diluted hypertonic albumin solution as a replacement fluid (1- to 1.5-fold plasma volume per session) is recommended for the treatment of neurological disorders, such as CIDP and GBS (1A).
- 2. PE using an isotonic or diluted hypertonic albumin solution as a replacement fluid is recommended for removing anti-A or anti-B antibodies in ABO-incompatible transplantation when used in combination with immunosuppressant agents (IB).
- 3. In principle, drug therapy is used in multiple sclerosis or hematological disorders (e.g., multiple myeloma or macroglobulinemia) and therapeutic PE is restricted (2C).

#### vii) Severe burns

#### Statement

CQ7. Is the use of albumin beneficial for severe burns?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
Albumin products are indicated in burns involving ≥50% of the total body surface area.	2	С	None*	49
Although such burns within 18 hours of injury are usually managed with extracellular fluid, albumin products are used even within 18 hours of injury if an albumin level is $<1.5 \text{ g/dl}$ .		В	None*	50-53
The efficacy of albumin on severe burns, length of stay, and mortality has not been proven.	1	В	None*	49, 54-58

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

#### 1. Use of albumin in burns involving ≥50% of the total body surface area

Regarding ≥50% TBSA (% of the total body surface area) burns in children, there is only studies that were published long ago, there are a limited number of cases, and almost all cases led to death, with no survival benefit of albumin demonstrated. A possible reason is that *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection after burns was difficult to treat<sup>49</sup>. In Reference 55, approximately half of patients in both the albumin group and the control group had possibly a ≥50% TBSA and albumin showed no benefits in cardiopulmonary function or survival.

## 2. Extracellular fluid is usually used within 18 hours of injury

In principle, albumin administration is recommended to be started within 24 hours of injury. Plasma proteins other than albumin have been reported to cause shock or reduced blood pressure when administered by bolus<sup>50</sup>. Albumin is considered to extravasate within 6 to 18 hours of injury<sup>51/52</sup>.

## 3. Albumin is indicated even within 18 hours of injury if an albumin level is <1.5 g/dl

Based on a paper on a burned Jehovah's witness<sup>53)</sup> who could endure albumin levels down to 1.2 g/dl without administration of blood products, an albumin level of 1.5 g/dl was considered appropriate.

## 4. Benefits of albumin

Although a paper reported that albumin improved morbidities<sup>58)</sup>, the study included only a limited number of patients, with 7 patients both in the albumin and control groups. Based on other papers including meta-analyses<sup>54)~57)</sup>, there were no statistical differences in morbidity. In addition, the length of stay<sup>56)</sup> or mortality was not improved<sup>54)~58)</sup>.

#### Recommendation

No paper provides evidence of the efficacy of albumin in severe burns and its benefits to length of stay and mortality (strong recommendation against use, 1B). The use of isotonic albumin should be limited to cases of a serum albumin level of  $\langle 2.0 \text{ g/d} l \text{ after } 18 \text{ hours of injury } (2B)$ .

### viii) Pulmonary edema or marked edema due to hypoproteinemia

## Statement

CQ8. Is the use of albumin effective in pulmonary edema or marked edema due to hypoproteinemia?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
Albumin is beneficial only for diuretic-resistant pulmonary edema or marked edema with marked hypoproteinemia, but there is no evidence of improved prognosis.		В	None*	59-63

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

Place of albumin in the treatment of pulmonary edema or marked edema

Cases of pulmonary edema or marked edema are first managed with sodium and fluid restriction plus loop diuretics. However, if patients do not respond to high doses of diuretics and have comorbid marked hypoalbuminemia (albumin level  $\leq 2.0 \text{ g/dl}$ ), the combination of a diuretic and a hypertonic albumin product is considered<sup>59)60)</sup>. It should be noted that this combination therapy is a matter of dispute and patients who benefit from the therapy may be limited<sup>61)62)</sup>. There is no evidence that albumin products improve prognosis<sup>63)</sup>.

In patients with treatment-resistant pulmonary edema or marked edema, the use of a hypertonic albumin product is considered only in the case of marked hypoalbuminemia (2B).

## ix) Markedly decreased circulating plasma volume

#### Statement

CQ9. Is the use of albumin effective in acute pancreatitis etc. with markedly decreased circulating plasma volume?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
Albumin administration is recommended in patients with shock as a result of markedly decreased circulating plasma volume secondary to acute pancreatitis, intestinal obstruction, etc.		D	D	64

#### Commentaries

Circulating plasma volume is decreased when systemic inflammatory response induced by pancreatitis causes increased vascular permeability or reduced colloid osmotic pressure associated with loss of proteins, which facilitates the loss of extracellular fluid into the abdominal and thoracic cavities as well as the pancreatic area. Although the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Acute Pancreatitis 2010<sup>64)</sup> state "the practical regimen, including the ratio of crystalloids and colloids to be used, should be individualized on the basis of an overall assessment of central venous pressure, blood pressure, urinary output, hematocrit, serum total protein level, and others," there is no clear evidence regarding the efficacy of albumin in acute pancreatitis. In addition, caution should be exercised because albumin administered in cases of increased vascular permeability extravasates and induces fluid retention, thus possibly leading to prolonged edema. However, shock secondary to markedly decreased circulating plasma volume is eligible for isotonic albumin products, as hypovolemic shock is.

#### Recommendation

An isotonic albumin product should be used in cases of shock secondary to decreased circulating plasma volume associated with medical disorders, such as acute pancreatitis (2D).

## x) Cerebral ischemia (head injury)

## Statement

Statement				
CQ10	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
Is the use of albumin effective in cerebral ischemia (head injury)?		Overseas	Japan	
1. It cannot be said that albumin is effective for fluid resuscitation in patients with traumatic brain injury or initial treatment of acute stroke. In the former, worsened prognosis has been noted.	1	A	None*	65,66
2. Albumin is effective to maintain circulating blood volume in vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage.	2	С	None*	67-69

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

## Commentaries

#### 1. Efficacy of albumin in cerebral ischemia (head injury) and prognosis

Among patients with traumatic brain injury who received fluid resuscitation for decreased circulating blood volume, albumin was associated with a higher mortality than normal saline, especially with the difference reaching significance in patients with severe brain injury<sup>65</sup>. In addition, it has been noted that a hypertonic albumin product at a high dose (2 g/kg) for the initial treatment of acute stroke does not improve neurological prognosis and may increase the incidence of pulmonary edema or cerebral hemorrhage<sup>66</sup>.

Crystalloids are preferentially used to maintain normal circulating blood volume in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Although albumin products are the second choice in cases of non-response to crystalloids, they have no direct effect on cerebral vasospasm and play a supplementary role by maintaining circulating blood volume<sup>67)</sup>. Triple-H therapy (the combination of hypervolemia, hemodilution, and induced hypertension) has been proposed for the improvement of disturbed cerebral circulation induced by cerebral vasospasm, but effects of aggressive fluid therapy for circulating blood volume expansion are controversial and maintenance of normal circulating blood volume has recently been favored<sup>68)69)</sup>.

- 1. Albumin is not recommended for fluid resuscitation in patients with traumatic brain injury or initial treatment of acute stroke (strong recommendation against use, 1A).
- 2. The use of isotonic albumin should be considered to maintain circulating blood volume in cases of vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhages that do not respond to crystalloids (2C).

## xi) Heart surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass

## Statement

CQ11. Is the use of albumin effective during heart surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass?	Grade	Evideno	Evidence Level	
		Overseas	Japan	
The benefit of using albumin as a priming solution during open- heart surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass has not been proven.		D	D	70-73, 75

#### Commentaries

Albumin has long been used as a priming solution in the cardiopulmonary bypass circuit during open-heart surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass. The use has two major purposes, i.e., to reduce the activation of platelets or complements by coating the blood contact surface of the circuit and to prevent fluid leakage to the extravascular compartment by maintaining the colloid osmotic pressure during the extracorporeal circulation. For the former, the reduction of the activation of platelets or complements is now achieved using the blood contact surface of the circuit coated with heparin or macromolecular polymers. Therefore, albumin is used mainly for the latter purpose (maintaining the colloid osmotic pressure).

A randomized, controlled trial comparing albumin and crystalloid as a priming solution for cardiopulmonary bypass reported that the postoperative fluid balance was better in the albumin group<sup>70</sup>. However, there were no significant differences in postoperative increase in body weight, although albumin was associated with a postoperative decrease in body weight and it has been reported that there are no statistical differences in postoperative blood loss, blood transfusion volume, length of stay in ICU, length of stay in hospital, or mortality<sup>71)~73</sup>. Although a Japanese retrospective study reported that albumin as a priming solution should be used with caution<sup>74</sup>, it is considered that some use of albumin is inevitable in children with hemodilution<sup>75</sup>.

#### Recommendation

Because there are almost no studies providing evidence of the efficacy and benefits of isotonic albumin in length of stay and mortality when used as a priming solution during open-heart surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass, albumin should be used with caution (2D).

## xii) Hypoalbuminemia with stable hemodynamics during the perioperative period

#### Statement

CQ12. Is the use of albumin is effective in hemodynamically stable patients with hypoalbuminemia during the perioperative period?	Evidence Level		Reference
	Overseas	Japan	
The use of albumin is not effective in hemodynamically stable patients with hypoalbuminemia during the perioperative period.	С	None*	76, 77

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

During the perioperative period, hypoalbuminemia may occur secondary to increased vascular permeability, body fluid dilution resulting from blood transfusion or reduced albumin production in the liver. Although it is well documented that hypoalbuminemia is a poor prognostic factor<sup>76</sup>, it remains inconclusive whether the use of albumin can improve the patient's prognosis. Many studies designed to examine the effect of albumin during the perioperative period include critically ill patients, such as ICU patients, but exclude patients with stable hemodynamics. The result of a Chinese, prospective, single-center, controlled trial comparing albumin with normal saline after gastrointestinal surgery indicated that there were no differences in terms of recovery of serum albumin

levels or clinical outcomes<sup>77)</sup>. In addition, the efficacy of the use of albumin remains unknown even in critically ill patients, suggesting that more care should be taken in hemodynamically stable patients.

#### Recommendation

The use of albumin is not recommended in hemodynamically stable patients with hypoalbuminemia during the perioperative period (weak recommendation against use, 2C).

## xiii) Pregnancy-induced hypertension

#### Statement

CQ13. Is the use of albumin effective in pregnancy-induced hypertension?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
The efficacy of the use of albumin in pregnancy-induced hypertension is not proven.	2	D	D	78,79

#### Commentaries

In pregnancy-induced hypertension, the presence of proteinuria, extravasation, etc. frequently cause hypoproteinemia. When hypertension becomes more marked, circulating plasma volume decreases, leading to hemoconcentration. For that reason, albumin products were used for volume expansion in the 1970s. However, excessively high doses of albumin products increase the risk of pulmonary edema due to extravasation in patients with pregnancy-induced hypertension, who have increased vascular permeability. Thus, albumin is indicated in cases in which the use of an antihypertensive drug reduces diuresis, leading to oliguria. Three trials conducted to date included a limited sample size of 61 subjects and found no evidence of efficacy. Reliable data volume and methodologies are needed<sup>78</sup>.

In summary, albumin is indicated in only limited cases of pregnancy-induced hypertension and instead excessive administration may worsen disease conditions<sup>79</sup>.

## Recommendation

Isotonic albumin may be indicated in cases in which the use of an antihypertensive drug reduces diuresis, leading to oliguria. Excessive administration may worsen disease conditions (2D).

## xiv) Inflammatory bowel disease

#### Statement

CQ14. Is the use of albumin effective in inflammatory bowel disease?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
The efficacy of albumin in inflammatory bowel disease is not proven.	2	None*	None*	None*

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

Hypoalbuminemia in patients with inflammatory bowel disease occurs due to undernutrition, inflammation, loss of proteins from the intestinal tract, etc. Although albumin is a useful indicator of nutrition or prognosis<sup>80(81)</sup>, no studies have been reported in which the clinical benefit of albumin in hypoalbuminemia was evaluated. In principle, hypoalbuminemia is managed with treatment of underlying disease or nutrition therapy<sup>82)</sup>, and the use of albumin is not recommended.

#### Recommendation

The use of albumin is not recommended in inflammatory bowel disease (weak recommendation against use, 2 None).

#### xv) Nutritional support as a source of protein

#### Statement

CQ15. Is the use of albumin effective as a source of protein for nutritional support?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
1. The use of albumin as a source of protein for nutritional support is of limited value.	2	С	None*	83-85
2. The use of albumin does not improve the prognosis of patients with hypoalbuminemia who are on total parenteral nutrition.		С	None*	86-88

\*No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

1. Serum albumin level is a prognostic factor in critically ill patients.

Decreased serum albumin level on hospital admission is considered to be associated with the patient's prognosis<sup>83)84)</sup>. However, hypoalbuminemia is affected by not only the severity of underlying disease but also malnutrition due to debilitating illness secondary to complications, mental stress, etc., and therefore cannot be completely regarded as a predictor of the patient's prognosis. Instead, the measurement of serum albumin levels is a useful indicator of changes in nutritional status in patients under long-term follow-up<sup>85)86)</sup>.

2. The use of albumin as a source of protein for nutritional support is of no value.

After dosing, albumin is slowly metabolized in the body and the majority of the dose is consumed as a source of calories. Albumin has an extremely low bioavailability and only a small fraction of the dose is metabolized into amino acids as materials for protein regeneration in the liver. Because only extremely small amounts of the essential amino acids tryptophan, isoleucine, and methionine are formed, albumin is of little value as nutritional support. The use of albumin in postoperative hypoproteinemia or malignancies is of no nutritional value with the exception of inducing a transient rise in plasma protein levels and providing colloid osmotic effects. From a standpoint of nutritional support, administration of amino acids and energy supplement with parenteral nutrition or enteral nutrition is nutritionally effective in producing proteins. In hospitalized patients who cannot take anything by mouth and require nutritional management, the early use of enteral nutrition, as compared with the early use of parenteral nutrition, is associated with a lower incidence of infections or noninfectious complications and a shorter length of stay in hospital, but with no differences in ultimate mortality. The use of albumin products is not indicated for hypoalbuminemia and the early use of enteral nutrition or parenteral nutrition is beneficial<sup>87</sup>.

3. The use of albumin does not improve the prognosis of patients with hypoalbuminemia who are on parenteral nutrition.

The administration of albumin to intensive care unit (ICU) patients with hypoalbuminemia who are receiving parenteral nutrition does not improve morbidity or mortality<sup>88)89</sup>. Instead, considering the risk of increased infectious (e.g., sepsis) or non-infectious complications, the routine use of albumin products in hypoalbuminemia should be avoided because it is merely expensive and does not improve the patients' prognosis.

#### Recommendation

- 1. The use of albumin as a source of protein is of limited value in nutritional support and the early use of enteral nutrition or parenteral nutrition is efficient in hypoalbuminemia (weak recommendation against use, 2C).
- 2. Although serum albumin level is an independent prognostic factor in hospitalized patients, the use of albumin should be avoided because it has no positive effects on the incidence of complications or the length of stay in hospital and prognosis. (weak recommendation against use, 2C)

#### xvi) Terminally ill patients

#### Statement

CQ16. Does the use of albumin improve the prognosis of terminally ill patients?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
The use of albumin does not improve the prognosis of terminally ill patients with hypoproteinemia.	2	С	None*	87,90

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

#### Commentaries

Use of albumin for hypoproteinemia in terminally ill patients

Causes of hypoproteinemia in terminally ill patients include i) reduced protein synthesis, ii) changes in biodistribution due to dehydration etc., iii) increased catabolism, and iv) loss of protein from the body. In particular, reduced protein synthesis in the liver is involved, including an eating disorder or disorder of digestion and absorption for protein components due to underlying disease. High-calorie nutrition containing amino acids, which are materials of protein, using the early use of enteral or parenteral nutrition is important<sup>87</sup>. Although the use of albumin products produces an immediate rise in serum albumin levels, it is of limited value in nutritional support because albumin has extremely low bioavailability and only a small fraction of the dose is metabolized into amino acids as materials for protein regeneration in the liver. Thus, the indication of albumin for hypoproteinemia in terminally ill patients is limited and includes symptomatic treatment to facilitate osmotic diuresis in severe edema or pulmonary edema. The use of albumin does not improve the prognosis of terminally ill patients with merely hypoproteinemia<sup>90</sup> and instead should be avoided because it may reduce the production of inflammatory cytokines (e.g., interferon-γ and TNF-α) from peripheral blood mononuclear cells or T-lymphocytes and increase the incidence of infections due to its immunosuppressive effects, resulting in a poor prognosis<sup>91</sup>. In addition, unnecessary use of fluid therapy or albumin should be avoided from the viewpoint of sanctity of life in terminally ill patients<sup>92</sup>

#### Recommendation

There are no reports where the use of albumin improves the prognosis of terminally ill patients, but instead the use of albumin has been reported to increase the incidence of infections. The use of albumin should be also avoided in terminally ill patients because of concerns for immunosuppression. (Weak recommendation against use, 2C)

## xvii) Pathological conditions that are not eligible for other plasma expanders

#### Statement

CQ17. Is the use of albumin recommended in pathological conditions that are not eligible for other plasma expanders?	Grade	Evidence Level		Reference
		Overseas	Japan	
Albumin is effective in cases in which it is difficult to use plasma substitutes other than albumin.	1	В	None*	93, 94

<sup>\*</sup>No clinical study was available.

## Commentaries

Plasma substitutes other than albumin include hydroxyethyl starch (HES) products and dextran products. They have been used for decreased circulating blood volume that are observed in surgery/trauma, burn treatment, etc., but have been noted to cause blood coagulation disorders, acute renal failure, and other problems. Thus, the use of albumin products is necessary in cases requiring high-dose administration. In addition, albumin is administered when allergic symptoms are observed, including congestive heart failure, renal impairment with oliguria and anaphylaxis.

In a clinical trial, patients with severe sepsis who received an HES product, as compared with those who received Ringer's acetate, had a higher risk of death at 90 days and were more likely to receive renal-replacement therapy<sup>93)</sup>. There is a report that an HES product, as compared with albumin, increased the risk of postoperative blood loss necessitating blood transfusion and reoperation for bleeding when administered for fluid management in adult cardiopulmonary bypass surgery<sup>94)</sup>. However, the 3rd generation HES130/0.41 product has excellent safety and efficacy profiles and remains to be studied.

Albumin is used in cases in which it is difficult to use plasma substitutes other than albumin. (1B)

Disclosure of COI and contributions

Shigeyoshi Makino: Lecture's fee and advisory fee (Japan Blood Products Organization)

Tadashi Matsushita: Scholarship grant (Japan Blood Products Organization, The Chemo-Sero-Therapeutic Research Institute, CSL Behring K.K., Nihon Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.), lecture's fee etc. (The Chemo-Sero-Therapeutic Research Institute, Nihon Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Baxter Limited)

Yuji Yonemura: Grant (Japan Blood Products Organization), Lecture's fee (Japanese Red Cross Society)

Satoshi Yasumura: Lecture's fee (Japan Blood Products Organization, Nihon Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.)

Shuichi Kino: 2013.5-2014.3; Lecture's fee (Japanese Red Cross Society), committee member fee (Japanese Red Cross Society) 2014.4 to date; None

Takehiro Kono: Lecture's fee and manuscript fee (Japan Blood Products Organization), Lecture's fee (Nihon Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.), Asashi Tanaka: Lecture's fee and manuscript fee (Japan Blood Products Organization), Lecture's fee (Nihon Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.), task force member (Japanese Red Cross Society)

Masanori Matsumoto: Grant (CSL Behring K.K., Japan Blood Products Organization), Lecture's fee (Japan Blood Products Organization, The Chemo-Sero-Therapeutic Research Institute, Japanese Red Cross Society, Astellas Pharma Inc.)

Akemi Wakisaka: None

	Supervision	Funding	Formulation of CQs	Primary Selection of Published Papers	Secondary Selection of Published Papers*	Preparation of Commentaries	
Shigeyoshi Makino		0	0	0	0	0	0
Tadashi Matsushita		0					
Yuji Yonemura			0		0	0	0
Satoshi Yasumura	0		0	0	0	0	0
Shuichi Kino			0		0	0	0
Takehiro Kono			0	0	0	0	0
Asashi Tanaka			0		0	0	0
Masanori Matsumoto			0	0	0	0	0
Akemi Wakisaka			0				

<sup>\*</sup>Includes additional hand-searched papers.

(First Edition, dated June 1, 2015)

Grade of Hypertonic Albumin Product Isotonic Albumin Product Recommendation Recommended ■ Liver cirrhosis ■ Therapeutic plasma exchange not requiring replacement of coagulation factors ① Type 1 hepatorenal syndrome Pathological conditions that are not eligible for other ② Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis plasma expanders 3 Large-volume paracentesis 4 Management of refractory ascites ■ Therapeutic plasma exchange not requiring the replacement of coagulation factors (with dilution) Usually not used ■ Nephritic syndrome with refractory edema or ■ Hemorrhagic shock pulmonary edema Severe burns ■ Pulmonary edema or marked edema due to ■ Severe sepsis hypoproteinemia ■ Extracorporeal circulation with unstable hemodynamics ■ Markedly decreased circulating plasma volume (e.g., pregnancy-induced hypertension, acute pancreatitis) ■ Heart surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass ■ Vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage Inappropriate use ■ Hypoalbuminemia with stable hemodynamics during the perioperative period Nutritional support as a source of protein ■ Terminally ill patients

Table Evidence-based Guidelines for the Use of Albumin Products Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy

#### References

Contraindication

■ Brain injury (cerebral ischemia)

- 1) Fukui T, Yamaguchi N: Minds Handbook for Clinical Practice Guideline Development 2014, Igaku-Shoin, Tokyo, 2014 (in Japanese).
- 2) Dubois MJ, Orellana-Jimenez C, Melot C, et al: Albumin administration improves organ function in critically ill hypoalbuminemic patients: a prospective, randomized, controlled, pilot study. Crit Care Med, 34: 2536—2540, 2006.
- 3) Martin GS, Moss M, Wheeler AP, et al: A randomized, controlled trial of furosemide with or without albumin in hypoproteinemic patients with acute lung injury. Crit Care Med, 33: 1681—1687, 2005.
- 4) Finfer S, Bellomo R, Boyce N, et al: A comparison of albumin and saline for fluid resuscitation in the intensive care unit. N Engl J Med, 350: 2247—2256, 2004.
- 5) Caironi P, Tognoni G, Masson S, et al: Albumin replacement in patients with severe sepsis or septic shock. N Engl J Med, 370: 1412—1421, 2014.
- 6) Mukhtar A, EL Masry A, Moniem AA, et al: The impact of maintaining normal serum albumin level following living related liver transplantation: does serum albumin level affect the course? A pilot study. Transplant Proc, 39: 3214—3218, 2007.
- 7) Liumbruno GM, Bennardello F, Lattanzio A, et al: Recommendations for the use of albumin and immunoglobulins. Blood Transfus, 7: 216—234, 2009.
- 8) Working Group on Serum Albumin Assays, Japanese Society of Laboratory Medicine: Proposal for serum albumin levels—handling of differences in measured values between the BCG method and the modified BCP method—. Japanese journal of clinical pathology, 62: 5—9, 2014 (in Japanese).
- 9) Committee for Quality Control, Japan Medical Association: Report on results of the 47th quality control survey for clinical laboratory tests by the Japanese Medical Association in 2013, Japan Medical Association, 56—60, 2014 (in Japanese).
- 10) Infusino I, Panteghini M: Serum albumin: Accuracy and clinical use. Clin Chim Acta, 419: 15—18, 2013.
- 11) Cochrane Injuries Group Albumin Reviewers: Human albumin administration in critically ill patients: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. BMJ, 317: 235—240, 1998.
- 12) Wilkes MM, Navickis RJ: Patient survival after human albumin administration: A meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Ann Intern Med, 135: 149—164, 2001.
- 13) SAFE Study Investigators, Finfer S, Bellomo R, et al: Effect of baseline serum albumin concentration on outcome of resuscitation with albumin or saline in patients in intensive care units: analysis of data from the saline versus albumin fluid evaluation (SAFE) study. BMJ, 333: 1044—1049, 2006.

- 14) Roberts I, Blackhall K, Alderson P, et al: Human albumin solution for resuscitation and volume expansion in critically ill patient. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, Issue 11: CD001208, DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001208.pub4, 2011.
- 15) Vincent J-L, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Morbidity in hospitalized patients receiving human albumin: A meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Crit Care Med, 32: 2029—2038, 2004.
- 16) Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A, et al: Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2012. Crit Care Med, 41: 580—637, 2013.
- 17) SAFE Study Investigators, Finfer S, McEvoy S, et al: Impact of albumin compared to saline on organ function and mortality of patients with severe sepsis. Intensive Care Med, 37: 86—96, 2011.
- 18) Rochwerg B Alhazzani W, Sindi A, et al: Fluid resuscitation in sepsis: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med, 161: 347—355, 2014.
- 19) Gines P, Titó L, Arroyo V, et al: Randomized comparative study of therapeutic paracentesis with and without intravenous albumin in cirrhosis. Gastroenterology, 94: 1493—1502, 1988.
- 20) Romanelli RG, La Villa G, Barletta G, et al: Long-term albumin infusion improves survival in patients with cirrhosis and ascites: an unblinded randomized trial. World J Gastroenterol, 12: 1403—1407, 2006.
- 21) Bernardi M, Caraceni P, Navickis RJ, et al: Albumin infusion in patients undergoing large-volume paracentesis: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Hepatology, 55: 1172—1181, 2012.
- 22) Ginès A, Fernández-Esparrach G, Monescillo A, et al: Randomized trial comparing albumin, dextran 70, and polygeline in cirrhotic patients with ascites treated by paracentesis. Gastroenterology, 111: 1002—1010, 1996.
- 23) Saló J, Ginès A, Ginès P, et al: Effect of therapeutic paracentesis on plasma volume and transvascular escape rate of albumin in patients with cirrhosis. J Hepatol, 27: 645—653, 1997.
- 24) Runyon BA: Management of Adult Patients with Ascites Due to Cirrhosis: An Update. Hepatology, 49: 2087—2107, 2009.
- 25) Sort P, Navasa M, Arroyo V, et al: Effect of intravenous albumin on renal impairment and mortality in patients with cirrhosis and spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. N Engl J Med, 341: 403—409, 1999.
- 26) Sigal SH, Stanca CM, Fernandez J, et al: Restricted use of albumin for spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Gut, 56: 597—599, 2007.
- 27) Poca M, Concepción M, Casas M, et al: Role of albumin treatment in patients with spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 10: 309—331, 2012.
- 28) Salerno F, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Albumin infusion improves outcomes of patients with spontaneous bacterial peritonitis: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 11: 123—130, 2013.
- 29) Sanyal AJ, Boyer T, Garcia-Tsao G, et al: A randomized, prospective, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of terlipressin for type 1 hepatorenal syndrome. Gastroenterology, 134: 1360—1368, 2008.
- 30) Gluud LL, Christensen K, Christensen E, et al: Terlipressin for hepatorenal syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 9: CD005162, 2012.
- 31) Duvoux C, Zanditenas D, Hézode C, et al. Effects of noradrenalin and albumin in patients with type I hepatorenal syndrome: a pilot study. Hepatology, 36: 374—380, 2002.
- 32) Fliser D, Zurbrüggen I, Mutschler E, et al: Coadministration of albumin and furosemide in patients with the nephrotic syndrome. Kidney Int, 55: 629—634, 1995.
- 33) Dharmaraj R, Hari P, Bagga A: Randomized cross-over trial comparing albumin and frosemide infusions in nephrotic syndrome. Pediatr Nephrol, 24: 775—782, 2009.
- 34) Haws RM, Baum M.: Efficacy of albumin and diuretic therapy in children with nephrotic syndrome. Pediatrics, 91: 1142—1146, 1993
- 35) Akcicek F, Yalniz T, Basci A, et al: Diuretic effect of frosemide in patients with nephrotic syndrome: is it potentiated by intravenous albumin? BMJ, 310: 162—163, 1995.
- 36) Rostoker G, Griuncelli M, Loridon C, et al: A pilot study of routine colloid infusion in hypotension-prone dialysis patients unresponsive to preventive measures. J Nephrol, 24: 208—217, 2011.
- 37) Knoll GA, Grabowski JA, Dervin GF, et al: A randomized, controlled trial of albumin versus saline for the treatment of intradialytic hypotension. J Am Soc Nephrol, 15: 487—492, 2004.

- 38) Fortin PM, Bassett K, Musini VM: Human albumin for intradialytic hypotension in haemodialysis patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 11: CD006758, 2010.
- 39) Szczepiorkowski ZM, Winters JL, Bandarenko N, et al: Guidelines on the use of therapeutic apheresis in clinical practice—evidence-based approach from the apheresis applications. Committee of the American Society for Apheresis. J Clin Apher, 25: 83—177, 2010.
- 40) Pusey C, Dash C, Garrett M, et al: Experience of using human albumin solution 4.5% in 1195 therapeutic plasma exchange procedures. Transfus Med, 20: 244—249, 2010.
- 41) Cortese I, Chaudhry V, So YT, et al: Evidence-based guideline update: Plasmapheresis in neurologic disorders: report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology, 76: 294—300, 2011.
- 42) Koller H, Kieseier BC, Jander S, et al: Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. N Engl J Med, 352: 1343—1356, 2005
- 43) Mehndiratta MM, Hughes RA, Agarwal P: Plasma exchange for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, CD003906, 2004.
- 44) Raphaël JC, Chevret S, Hughes RA, et al: Plasma exchange for Guillain-Barré syndrome, Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 7: CD001798, 2012.
- 45) Bouget J, Chevret S, Chastang C, et al: Plasma exchange morbidity in Guillain-Barré syndrome: results from the French prospective, randomized, multicenter study. The French Cooperative Group. Crit Care Med, 21: 651—658, 1993.
- 46) Tobian AA, Shirey RS, Montgomery RA, et al: Therapeutic plasma exchange reduces ABO titers to permit ABO-incompatible renal transplantation. Transfusion, 49: 1248—1254, 2009.
- 47) Keegan M, König F, McClelland R, et al: Relation between humoral pathological changes in multiple sclerosis and response to therapeutic plasma exchange. Lancet, 366: 579—582, 2005.
- 48) Pasquali S, Cagnoli L, Rovinetti C, et al: Plasma exchange therapy in rapidly progressive renal failure due to multiple myeloma. Int J Artif Organs, 8: 27—30, 1984.
- 49) Kefalides NA, Arana JA, Bazan A, et al: Role of infection in mortality from severe burns. Evaluation of plasma, gamma-lobulin, albumin and saline-solution therapy in a group of Peruvian children. N Engl J Med, 267: 317—323, 1962.
- 50) Matsumura H: Severe Burn. In: Yamamoto Y, eds, Clinical Manual of Albumin, Medical Review, Tokyo, 2003, 69—73 (in Japanese).
- 51) Birke G, Liljedahl SO, Plantin LO, et al: Studies on burns. IX. The distribution and Losses through the wound of <sup>131</sup>I-albumin measured by whole-body counting. Acta Chir Scand,134: 27—36, 1968.
- 52) Brouhard BH, Carvajal HF, Linares HA: Burn edema and protein leakage in the rat. I. Relationship to time of injury. Microvasc Res, 15: 221—228, 1978.
- 53) Schlagintweit S, Snelling CF, Germann E, et al: Major burns managed without blood or blood products. J Burn Care Rehabil, 11: 214—220, 1990.
- 54) Vincent JL, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Morbidity in hospitalized patients receiving human albumin: a meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Crit Care Med, 32: 2029—2038, 2004.
- 55) Goodwin CW, Dorethy J, Lam V, et al: Randomized trial of efficacy of crystalloid and colloid resuscitation on hemodynamic response and lung water following thermal injury. Ann Surg, 197: 520—531, 1983.
- 56) Greenhalgh DG, Housinger TA, Kagan RJ, et al: Maintenance of serum albumin levels in pediatric burn patients: a prospective, randomized trial. J Trauma, 39: 67—73, 1995.
- 57) Haynes GR, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Albumin administration—what is the evidence of clinical benefit? A systematic review of randomized controlled trial. Eur J Anaesthesiol, 20: 771—779, 2003.
- 58) Jelenko C, Williams JB, Wheeler ML, et al: Studies in shock and resuscitation, I: use of a hypertonic, albumin—containing, fluid demand regimen (HALFD) in resuscitation. Crit Care Med, 7: 157—167, 1979.
- 59) Gentilini P, Casini-Raggi V, Di Fiore G, et al: Albumin improves the response to diuretics in patients with cirrhosis and ascites: results of a randomized, controlled trial. J Hepatol, 30: 639—645, 1999.
- 60) Martin GS, Moss M, Wheeler AP, et al: A randomized, controlled trial of furosemide with or without albumin in hypoproteinemic patients with acute lung injury. Crit Care Med, 33: 1681—1687, 2005.

- 61) Chalasani N, Gorski JC, Horlander JC Sr, et al: Effects of albumin/furosemide mixtures on responses to furosemide in hypoal-buminemic patients. J Am Soc Nephrol, 12: 1010—1016, 2001.
- 62) Elwell RJ, Spencer AP, Eisele G: Combined furosemide and human albumin treatment for diuretic-resistant edema. Ann Pharmacother, 37: 695—700, 2003.
- 63) Roberts I, Blackhall K, Alderson P, et al: Human albumin solution for resuscitation and volume expansion in critically ill patients. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev. 11: 1—42, 2011.
- 64) Publication Committee for the revised Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Acute Pancreatitis 2010: Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Acute Pancreatitis 2010, Kanehara, Tokyo, 2010 (in Japanese).
- 65) Myburgh J, Cooper DJ, Finfer S, et al: Saline or albumin for fluid resuscitation in patients with traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med, 357: 874—884, 2007.
- 66) Ginsberg MD, Palesch YY, Hill MD, et al: High dose albumin treatment for acute ischemic stroke (ALIAS) part 2: a randomized, double-blind, phase 3, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol, 12: 1049—1058, 2013.
- 67) Frontera JA, Fernandez A, Schmidt JM, et al: Clinical response to hypertensive hypervolemicd therapy and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery, 66: 35—41, 2010.
- 68) Lennnihan L, Mayer SA, Fink ME, et al: Effect of hypervolemic therapy on cerebral blood flow after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized controlled trial. Stroke, 31: 383—391, 2000.
- 69) Diringer MN, Bleck TP, Claude Hemphill J, et al: Critical care management of patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: recommendations from the Neurocritical Care Society's Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference. Neurocrit Care, 15: 211—240, 2011.
- 70) Scott DA, Hore PJ, Cannata J, et al: A comparison of albumin, polygeline and crystalloid priming solutions for cardiopulmonary bypass in patients having coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Perfusion, 10: 415—424, 1995.
- 71) Erstad BL, Richards H, Rose S, et al: The use of albumin in clinical practice. Arch Intern Med, 151: 901—911, 1991.
- 72) Zarro DL, Palanzo DA, Phillips TG: Albumin in the pump prime: its effect on postoperative weight gain. Perfusion, 16: 129—135, 2001.
- 73) Russell JA, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Albumin versus crystalloid for pump priming in cardiac surgery: meta-analysis of controlled trials. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth, 18: 429—437, 2004.
- 74) Hatanaka Y, Yagi Y, Sugawara H, et al: The clinical effect on fluid balance of albumin in the priming solution and restriction on crystalloid loading during cardiopulmonary bypass. Japanese Journal of Extra-Corporeal Technology, 40: 155—160, 2013 (in Japanese).
- 75) Kameyama T, Komeda M: Albumin Use in Open Heart Surgery. In: Yamamoto Y, eds, Clinical Manual of Albumin, Medical Review, Tokyo, 2003, 159—162 (in Japanese).
- 76) Vincent JL, Dubois MJ, Navickis RJ, et al: Hypoalbuminemia in acute illness: Is there a rationale for intervention. Ann Surg, 237: 319—334, 2003.
- 77) Yuan XY, Zhang CH, He YL, et al: Is albumin administration beneficial in early stage of postoperative hypoalbuminemia following gastrointestinal surgery?: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Am J Surg, 196: 751—755, 2008.
- 78) Duley L, Williams J, Henderson-Smart DJ: Plasma volume expansion for treatment of pre-clampsia. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 4: CD001805, 1999.
- 79) Sato S, Mizunuma H: Gestational Toxicosis. In: Yamamoto Y, eds, Clinical Manual of Albumin, Medical Review, Tokyo, 2003, 181—187 (in Japanese).
- 80) Vagianos K, Bector S, McConnell J, et al: Nutrition assessment of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. JPEN, 31: 311—319, 2007.
- 81) Mijac DD, Janković GL, Jorga J, et al: Nutritional status in patients with active inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence of malnutrition and methods for routine nutritional assessment. Eur J Intern Med, 21: 315—319, 2010.
- 82) Duerksen DR, Nehra V, Bistrian BR, et al: Appropriate nutritional support in acute and complicated Crohn's disease. Nutrition, 14: 462—465, 1998.
- 83) Goldwasser P, Feldman J: Association of serum albumin and mortality risk. J Clin Epidemiol, 50: 693-703, 1997.
- 84) Kung SP, Tang GJ, Wu CW, et al: Serum albumin concentration as a prognostic indicator for acute surgical patients. Chi Med J, 62: 61—67, 1999.

- 85) O'Keefe SJ, Dicker J: Is plasma albumin concentration useful in the assessment of nutritional status of hospital patients? Eur J Clin Nutr, 42: 41—45, 1988.
- 86) Brian LE: Serum albumin concentrations: Who needs them? Ann Pharmacother, 26: 1134—1138, 1992.
- 87) Peter JV, Moran JL, Phillips-Hughes J: A meta-analysis of treatment outcomes of early enteral versus early parenteral nutrition in hospitalized patients. Crit Care Med, 33: 213—261, 2005.
- 88) Rubin H, Carlson S, DeMeo M, et al: Randomized, double-blind study of intravenous human albumin in hypoalbuminemic patients receiving total parenteral nutrition. Crit Care Med, 25: 249—252, 1997.
- 89) Golus R, Sorrento JJ Jr, Cantu R, et al: Efficacy of albumin supplementation in the surgical intensive care unit: A prospective, randomized study. Crit Care Med, 22: 613—619, 1994.
- 90) McCauley RL, Brennan MF: Serum albumin levels in cancer patients receiving total parenteral nutrition. Ann Surg, 197: 305—309, 1983.
- 91) Bar-Or D, Thomas GW, Bar-Or R, et al: Commercial human albumin preparations for clinical use are immunosuppressive in vitro. Crit Care Med, 34: 1707—1712, 2006.
- 92) the Committee on Palliative Medicine Guidelines, Japanese Society for Palliative Medicine. eds, Guidelines of Fluid Treatment for End-stage Cancer Patients, 2013 edition, Kanehara, Tokyo, 2013 (in Japanese).
- 93) Perner A, Haase N, Guttormsen AB, et al: Hydroxyethyl starch 130/0.42 versus Ringer's acetate in severe sepsis. N Engl J Med, 367: 124—134, 2012.
- 94) Navickis RJ, Haynes GR, Wilkes MM: Effect of hydroxyethyl starch on bleeding after cardiopulmonary bypass: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 144: 223—230, 2012.

## 科学的根拠に基づいたアルブミン製剤の使用ガイドライン

安村 敏<sup>1)</sup> 牧野 茂義<sup>2)</sup> 松本 雅則<sup>3)</sup> 河野 武弘<sup>4)</sup> 紀野 修一<sup>5)</sup> 田中 朝志<sup>6)</sup> 脇坂 明美<sup>7)</sup> 米村 雄士<sup>8)</sup> 松下 正<sup>9)</sup>

- 1)国立大学法人 富山大学附属病院, 輸血・細胞治療部
- 2)国家公務員共済組合連合会 虎の門病院, 輸血部
- 3)奈良県立医科大学附属病院, 輸血部
- 4)大阪医科大学附属病院, 輸血室
- 5)日本赤十字社北海道ブロック血液センター,
- 『東京医科大学 八王子医療センター、臨床検査医学科・輸血部
- 7)日本血液製剤機構中央研究所
- 8国立大学法人 熊本大学医学部附属病院, 輸血·細胞治療部
- 9)名古屋大学医学部附属病院, 輸血部

## キーワード:

アルブミン製剤, 低アルブミン血症, 出血性ショック, 重症感染症, 治療的血漿交換療法

©2017 The Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy Journal Web Site: http://yuketsu.jstmct.or.jp/